
CITY COUNCIL MEETING NOTICE AND AGENDA 
 

Notice is hereby given that the City Council of Caribou will hold a City Council Meeting on 
Monday, April 11, 2022, in the Council Chambers located at 25 High Street, 6:00 pm. 
 
THE MEETING WILL BE BROADCAST ON CABLE CHANNELS 8 & 1301 AND THE CITY’S YOUTUBE CHANNEL.  
 
1. Roll Call 
2. Invocation/Inspirational Thought        Adam Chartier, Fire Chaplain 
3. Pledge of Allegiance 
4. Public Forum (PUBLIC COMMENTS SUBMITTED TO THE CITY CLERK PRIOR TO 4:30PM ON THE MEETING DATE WILL 

BE SHARED WITH THE COUNCIL DURING PUBLIC FORUM. Email dbrissette@cariboumaine.org)  Pages 
a. Danny Raymond – 100th Anniversary of Old Engine One      02-03 
b. Amber Madore – 607 Fort Fairfield Road       04 
c. Sherrie St. Peter – 375 Belanger Road 

5. Minutes 
a. February 28, 2022 – Regular City Council meeting       05-20 
b. March 21, 2022 – Special City Council meeting        21-23 
c. March 28, 2022 – Regular City Council meeting        24-28 

6. Bid Openings, Awards, and Appointments 
a. Tax-acquired property bid results (Finance Director)      29-30 
b. 2022 Spring Façade Improvement Grant results (CEO)      31 

7. Public Hearings and Possible Action Items 
a. Public Hearing – Dangerous Buildings at West Gate Villa (CEO)     32-80 
b. Public Hearing – Section 10-205 Chapter 10 Planning, Article II      81-83 

8. Reports by Staff and Committees 
a. Memo on June Primary (City Clerk)        84 
b. Memo on Appointment of Election Clerks (City Clerk)      85 
c. Memo on Maine Northern Railroad Re-Use Council (CEO)     86-88 
d. Manager’s report          89-90 

9. New Business, Ordinances and Resolutions 
a. Introduction: Application for ARPA County funds, public hearing 4/25    91 
b. Introduction: ARPA Conflict of Interest Policy       92-94 
c. Introduction: Juneteenth holiday / update ordinance to Indigenous Peoples Day   95-97 
d. MTIF Quote from NMDC         98-100 
e. Discussion about snow removal from fire hydrants      101 

10. Old Business 
a. Update: Electricity savings with Solar        102 

11. Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members      Reports 
12. Next Regular Meetings: April 25, May 9 & 23       103-113 
13. Executive Session(s) (May be called to discuss matters identified under MRSA, Title 1, §405.6.A) 

a. City Manager 6-month probation review (Discussion of employee evaluation) 
14. Adjournment 
If you are planning to attend this Public Meeting and due to a disability, need assistance in understanding or 
participating in the meeting, please notify the City Clerk ten or more hours in advance and we will, within reason, 
provide what assistance may be required. 
 
Certificate of Mailing/Posting 
The undersigned duly appointed City official for the municipality of Caribou City hereby certifies that a copy of the 
foregoing Notice and Agenda was posted at City Offices and on-line in accordance with City noticing procedures.      
 

 
BY: ____________________________________ Cherie Garman, Deputy City Clerk 1

mailto:dbrissette@cariboumaine.org


2



3



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   April 11, 2022 
Re:   Public Input regarding tax-acquired property 

  

Amber Madore, of 607 Fort Fairfield Road in Caribou spoke at the last City Council meeting and 
has requested that the Caribou City Council work with her to retain her home. The Caribou City 
Council has asked her to come back tonight with a plan. 

Ms. Madore has been to the Caribou City Office multiple times over the past two weeks. She has 
reached out to ACAP. The program that may help her is “Maine Homeowner Assistance Fund”. 
After numerous delays, the portal is scheduled to open on May 2. Homeowners who can prove that 
they suffered a loss in wages due to the COVID-19 pandemic are eligible for up to $25,000 to keep 
their home out of foreclosure. Don Whipkey from ACAP said that if she qualifies, since the home 
is already in tax foreclosure, the release of funds would be prioritized. However, we do not know 
yet if she is eligible for this program. 

Ms. Madore has filed her income taxes for the 2021 tax year and is expecting a tax refund. She has 
indicated that she will pay all past due amounts when she receives that refund. These are her “Plan 
A” and “Plan B”. 

 

Sherrie St. Peter has contacted the office about a neighboring property – 375 Belanger Road. This 
property was not put out to bid due to the number of code violations and blight designation. Ms. 
St. Peter has indicated that she would clean up the property and work with the occupant to move. 
Per the tax-acquired policy, the property would need to go out to bid. 

4



February 28, 2022 
22-06 Pg. 1 

Council Agenda Item #1:  Roll Call 

The Caribou City Council held a regular City Council Meeting on Monday, February 28, 2022, at 6:00 
p.m. in Council Chambers with the following members present:  Mayor Smith, Deputy Mayor Boma, 
Councilors Morrell, Morrill, Theriault and Willey.  Councilor Goughan was present via Zoom.   

Penny Thompson, City Manager was present at the meeting.  

Department Managers Kenneth Murchison (CEO/Zoning Administrator), Gary Marquis (Parks & 
Recreation Superintendent), Scott Susi (Fire Chief), and Carl Grant (Finance Director) were present at the 
meeting.   

Melissa Lizotte of the Aroostook Republican covered the meeting, and it was broadcasted via Spectrum 
and YouTube.   

Council Agenda Item #2:  Invocation/Inspirational Thought 

Father David Raymond of the Parish of the Precious Blood led an invocation.   

Council Agenda Item #3:  Pledge of Allegiance 

Mayor Smith led the Pledge of Allegiance 

Council Agenda Item #4:  Public Forum 

No Comments were made by the public. 

Council Agenda Item #9:  New Business, Ordinances and Resolutions 

a.  Resolution regarding the closure of Maine Veterans Home 

Councilor Willey read a letter submitted by Nashali Parks: 

“Nashali Parks 

(Na-Shay-Lee) 

February 28, 2022 

Caribou Town Meeting-MVH 

 

 I love my job, I love what I do. I have a good life and I can speak out against my own president's 
decisions and not be arrested for it. These men and women fought so hard and lost so much for me to be 
able to do those things and live the life I live. I can never repay them, but I can do everything in my 
power to ensure they live their last days in comfort in a place they recognize, the place they call home. 

I don't think the importance of either veteran home can be overstated. Just from a moral and ethical 
position: doing everything we can to help our veterans shouldn't exclusively be a matter of charity and 
money, but one of respect and pride. Beyond just our citizenship, our towns have a long history of 
military service and support. Take Loring Airforce Base for instance. It was the absolute pillar of 
Northern Maine's economy for nearly fifty years. Much of what we have up here even today can find its 
origins derived from the presence of that base. 

The responses that we have received on the petition, people are appalled at the suddenness of the 
decision. We know nothing of the steps taken or the avenues explored or of any kind of effort taken to 
prevent these closures. We are a close knit community, no matter how divided we seem on the outside. If 
given the chance we would have come together to ensure the right thing was done. People are angry that 
there was no transparency. That we only now discover the issues, AFTER the decision has been made. 

5



February 28, 2022 
22-06 Pg. 2 

Especially now that we have concerns from our congress and senate about the actuality of the financial 
situation the company faces. 

A comment that I particularly like that someone put on the petition that I started says “There is a 
nationwide bed shortage, it's plain not fair to turn our back on those who fought for us. MVH has 6 core 
values they remind us of daily. It's time MVH showed honesty and integrity to our veterans and staff.. 
Treat veterans like they are unique. Respect their home. Show them excellent care. Show them a team 
doesn't turn their back on its own players. And lead the way, in giving back to those who fought for us.”  

People celebrate every year on Veterans day but Veterans don't get just a day, they get a lifetime of our 
respect, dedication and service.  “ 

Councilor Theriault read an email submitted by Shanae Reed: 

“My question is .. why build this new facility if there is declining veteran population, was this you plan 
all along to displace these veterans from there home and family just to benefit your new home and drive 
them there since there’s no placement in aroostook county?” 

Mayor Smith read an email submitted by Heidi LaMothe: 

“Hi my name is Heidi LaMothe from Caribou & my 88 year old Dad lives in the Caribou Veterans Home 
which he calls Home. He loves the employees & the beautiful facility. He always says they take really 
good care of me! I was so shocked & saddened to hear the closing of this place. After it sunk in some I 
became upset because it's dishonorable to place our Veterans far away from their loved ones! Its also 
unjust for the employees who put their time & energy into this place making all residents feel at home to 
lose their job! For Aroostook County to not have a place for our Veterans is unethical & it feels like 
Aroostook County isn't part of Maine! I know being a beautician in this area that there are plenty of 
Veterans around that'll need a facility like this someday & our family community is disappointed in the 
closure of this needed facility. Our nursing homes around are already full & its detrimental to close the 
Caribou Veterans Home! Please keep this wonderful facility open & keep our Veterans here in Aroostook 
County! Thanks for listening!” 

Deputy Mayor Boma read an email submitted by Hannah Voisine:  

“I am one of just many concerned employees at the Maine Veteran’s Home in Caribou, who are in a state 
of shock, frustration and worry over the possible closure of the Maine Veteran’s Home.  When we were 
notified by the CEO of the plan to close our doors, the main reasons we were given for this closure 
included the projected loss of $3 million between both the Machias and Caribou MVH’s, a shortage in 
workers, and a decline in our veteran population.  Unfortunately, this information has either been shown 
to be inaccurate, or false.  Congress released a letter stating that in 2019, MVH profited $25 million, as a 
NON-PROFIT organization.  Also, MVH just built a multimillion-dollar home in Augusta.   

Another interesting fact that we were not made aware of is that congress reached out to the MVH board 
members to offer support to keep these homes open.  The MVH board and CEO declined this help and did 
NOT notify local and state government officials regarding the closure.  They outright refused any 
assistance offered.  One can’t help but wonder why. 

When it comes to the issue of a decline in the veteran population, there are other options.  We have plenty 
of elderly in Aroostook County who are awaiting placement in a skilled nursing facility.  Most nursing 
homes in the area do not have any empty beds and actually have a waiting list.  Why can’t we take in 
these individuals? 

Lastly, but most importantly, we are fighting for our Veteran’s.  These individuals fought for our 
freedom, our rights, and for this country.  The very ground these MVH homes stand on.  They deserve 
nothing but the best care, until their very last day. MVH is not a business, it’s a HOME.  We, as 
employees, work in the building many of these residents have known as home for several years.  I know 
first hand, they currently receive the best of care from all employees at the Caribou MVH, which is 

6



February 28, 2022 
22-06 Pg. 3 

nothing short of what they deserve.  Shame on those who have taken the sacrifices these individuals have 
made, and completely disregarded the importance of their own selfish desires.   

We will stand up and fight for what these veterans deserve, and we will fight for what is right.  It is now 
our time to return the favor to our nation’s heroes.  They deserve so much more!  Thank you! 

Sincerely, 

Hannah Voisine” 

Councilor Morrill read an email submitted by Kayla Creasey: 

“Good evening, I am emailing you to give you a few comments I feel needed to be expressed. First off, 
thank you for helping voice our concerns for these residents and staff members. 

I truly believe that we need the Maine Veterans Home to stay in Caribou. A lot of our residents grew up 
in the county, have made businesses, and have family and friends here. I feel very upset that they would 
even consider getting rid of Caribou Veterans Home. The Maine Veterans Home - Caribou, is a 
wonderful facility for those who need long term care or even skilled care. They are able to have their 
families and friends come in and see them, they all love the staff and our activities. I cannot see any good 
reason to get rid of the Veterans Home. This is a primary resource to many veterans of the community. If 
they break an arm, had a major medical issue, they can stay at the Veterans Home for recovery and then 
go back home. For our long term residents, many of them have asked if they were bad veterans.. or if they 
weren’t good enough to stay here. There is nothing more heartbreaking than hearing someone ask those 
questions and knowing that this preventative situation has caused them so much pain. These Veterans 
have fought for our country, our freedom & rights… I just don’t understand why they should worry about 
shelter security at their age and after everything they have done for us. They deserve so much better than 
to be displaced away from everyone and everything they know. Please keep our Veterans in the county - 
where they belong!” 

Councilor Morrell read an email submitted by Miranda Ledue: 

“My name is Miranda Ledue and I've been a PSS on the Residential Care unit of MVH Caribou for two 
and a half years. It's where I was able to earn my CNA license, and this job means the world to me. We 
provide an invaluable service to this community. Our staff are hardworking, compassionate, and 
dedicated to our residents. We have shown that we are willing to fight for the veterans who fought for us, 
and who have more than earned their continued comfort and security in these Homes. 

Local nursing facilities are stretched thin as it is, many with no open beds and long waiting lists. This 
planned closure would force our residents to relocate hours away from their families, which would have 
devastating effects on their mental and emotional wellbeing. We need to do everything we can to keep the 
Veterans’ Home open. 

Thank you for your time and consideration.” 

Councilor Willey read a letter from Jonna Parks: 

” Caribou City Council Members: I am writing to express my opinion on the recent announcement 
regarding the closing of the Maine Veterans Homes in Caribou. The announcement is devastating news, 
not just for the veterans who call it home, but for their families, the staff and the greater Caribou 
community. 

I grew up in Aroostook County, and my late father was an Army veteran. I remember him taking us to 
Loring AFB and teaching us about its importance and value to the community. I, like so many others, am 
saddened and angered by this sudden decision and the manner in which it was announced. This has been 
handled in a secretive and somewhat deceptive manner, and I hope our lawmakers will prove it has not 
been processed legally, as closing any of the Maine Veterans Homes requires legislative approval. 

7



February 28, 2022 
22-06 Pg. 4 

There are six Veterans Homes in Maine, and the decision was made to close two of the most rural 
locations. MVH representatives cite escalating operational losses as one of the major reasons this decision 
was made. Perhaps, if they hadn’t built such an ornate facility in Augusta, this might not be the case. 
They also cite the growing scarcity of qualified workforce. I would absolutely disagree with that 
statement. The Veterans Home in Caribou holds the Silver Quality Award for the outstanding condition 
of their facility, they had a flawless state inspection, and they have remained Covid-free, which is a major 
accomplishment during a pandemic that has spanned more than two years. The majority of these workers 
take great personal pride in their work. They acknowledge the honor and privilege it is to take care of the 
people who have sacrificed so much for this country. It is more than just a job; many of the staff are 
extremely close to the folks who live there.  

Closing two of the most rural facilities will place veterans in areas that are unfamiliar to them and will no 
doubt cause a hardship on their families who will have to travel much farther to visit them. Veterans 
deserve to receive care in their home communities. Winters in Maine are harsh, and driving conditions 
often prevent people from traveling far from their towns. Displacing these folks to Augusta or Bangor 
will result in their families not being able to visit as much. Veterans have already sacrificed for their 
country. They shouldn’t have to give up their home as well. This is not a matter of money, this is a matter 
of honor.  

Those from The County are all too familiar with the concept of the two Maines. There has always been a 
system of catering to the larger cities and forgetting about the rural communities. Well, they have poked 
the wrong bear this time! Folks from The County have a long history of banding together and taking care 
of their own. I feel confident that given the chance, this situation will be no different. I hope and pray the 
Maine Legislature makes passing the necessary legislation its top priority. After all, they represent the 
citizens of Maine, and the citizens (and former residents) of Aroostook County have spoken loudly and 
clearly in opposition to the closing of this facility.  

Thank you for allowing me the time to express my opinion.  

Sincerely, Jonna Parks” 

Councilor Theriault read an email submitted by Nora Thomas: 

“Good evening, I have worked at the Maine Veterans home for 7 years I have worked many other home 
also but the Maine Veterans Home in caribou is "home" to the many veterans that needed care. They have 
given and sacrificed so much for their country and fellow man it would not be fair to rip them from their 
home, family because of  money issues that should have been resolved when they started. We have 
listened to our vets ask questions and cry and feel scared of the unknown. How would anyone of us feel if 
it happened to us or our family members. My question is how did it get this far without anyone helping 
our Veterans.    Thank you for helping our Veterans and family. 

Nora Thomas” 

Mayor Smith read an email submitted by Kathy Ellison: 

“I don't think it's fair or right to close The Maine Veteran's Home In Caribou. This is where our veteran's 
live, where their families live and I think we owe it to them to keep them here in the County where they 
want to be. These people fought for us and our freedom and all they want in return is their right be near 
their family where they feel safe and comfortable. I think that's the very least we can do for them.” 

Deputy Mayor Boma read an email submitted by Ashley Johnston: 

“Hello,   

8



February 28, 2022 
22-06 Pg. 5 

My name is Ashley Johnston and I am currently employed as a certified nursing assistant at Maine 
Veterans Home- Caribou. I work with the long term care residents and have gotten to know them very 
well over the last few years. I hope that in dealing with this matter, that all parties involved will look at 
these residents not just as a number, but as people. They are people that have lived full lives and just 
like you and I have the ability to choose where we want to live- these residents have chosen (for most of 
their lives) to reside in Aroostook County. To not allow them that privilege after all that they have 
sacrificed for this country means that we as a county and a state are failing them. There has got to be a 
better solution than closing the facility. Not only will the decision to close fail us in our duty to the 
residents and their families who have already sacrificed so much, but fail the employees as well. Imagine 
acquiring your nursing degree in Maine and planning to settle down in aroostook county then learning 
that a major healthcare facility is closing down! Would you choose to establish a home and a career in 
Aroostook county? Deciding to close MVH-C will not only be damaging to Aroostook County’s reputation 
but the economy as well. Because we love MVH so much and were offered such a generous relocation 
package, many of us are considering transferring to another MVH facility, downstate, with our families. 
Because Aroostook county is so rural and we’re seeing a steady halt in employment in the able bodied 
working population in Maine, political leaders should strive to keep as many able bodied people in the 
workforce (and their families) in Maine & specifically Aroostook county. With the VA clinic relocating to 
Presque isle and Maine veterans home closing, there will be far less left in Caribou for employment 
opportunities.  

Finally, to address the staffing issue that is claimed to be one of the biggest reasons for closure: 
Aroostook county currently has three colleges (UMFK, UMPI, and NMCC). All three college offer CNA 
certification as part of their curriculum and many students have little experience going into the program. 
I have seen students from all three schools complete clinical rotations at MVH-C. I feel that it would be 
beneficial for MVH-C to partner with the universities to provide opportunities for nursing students 
regarding employment at MVH-C with successful completion of the necessary nursing 
courses/certification ( be it CNA or RN). Students are required to keep up with vaccination status while 
enrolled and need to demonstrate strong values while in nursing school. Those students would make 
great employees if MVH a could partner with those schools.  

I have so much more that I’d like to say but I mostly wanted to address these key points that I feel 
others might not have considered. If there’s anything that I can personally do further to help prevent the 
closure, I am all ears! As are every single one of the other staff members.  

Thank you so much for you time!” 

Councilor Morrill read a letter sent by Cynthia Marquis: 

“To the members of the Caribou City Council…. 

I would like to address a very concerning event that is scheduled to take place in your city…..that being 
the pending closing of the Maine Veterans Home.    To say that I personally am shocked and saddened by 
this move would be an extreme understatement.  I speak tonight as a concerned citizen, as a dedicated 
educator in the State of Maine (35 years) but mostly as a daughter of a resident of the Maine Veteran’s 
Home in Caribou.   Please understand that my Father, Carleton L. Barnes, spent his life serving both his 

9



February 28, 2022 
22-06 Pg. 6 

country and his state.  He served in the Korean conflict in the US Army and has been serving the students 
of the State of Maine as an educator, principal and superintendent of schools throughout his career.   He 
has dedicated himself to the education and well-being of all students in any district he worked and always 
has said that the bottom line was to “do what was right for the student.”   I fail to see how the closing of 
the Maine Veteran’s Home is doing what is right for any of the residents or for their families.    We, as a 
family, were very comforted when Dad was able to be at the Veteran’s Home as we are aware of the high 
level of care at this facility.  Right now we are heartbroken that this change is being planned.  Any change 
for elderly folks is difficult and this, I fear, will be extremely detrimental.   We have seen a negative 
effect on Dad as he has begun to suspect that there is a change in the offing.  To have to move him would 
be extremely hard on him as it would all other residents.   The residents of the Veteran’s Home have 
served our Country bravely and under no circumstances should be subjected to this turmoil. 

 The negative effects of this planned closure not only effect the residents, but also the dedicated staff at 
the Veteran’s home.  They are some of the kindest, most dedicated caregivers that I have had the pleasure 
of meeting.  Their lives are being thrown into turmoil as well as their families.    

 I would urge you to do whatever you can, by whatever means available to you to work against this 
closure.   All of these residents have served their country and do NOT deserve this.     If you have any 
questions for me feel free to contact me at this email address or at 207-488-6846(Home) or 207-227-
9421(Cell).   Thank you in advance for your attention to this matter.” 

Wilfred Martin wants to know why and what the reasons are for the closure. 

Kelley Kash, CEO of Maine Veterans’ Homes was present at the meeting via Zoom.  He explained that 
the main reason for closure of the facilities is due to escalating losses in the facilities. They are estimating 
a loss of $1.8 million in Caribou for 2022 and $1.2 million for Machias.  They are a 501C3, and not a 
state funded agency.  They are suspecting a drop in the veteran population by 2/3 in the next 10 years.  He 
also explained that there is also a workforce shortage crisis and a vacancy rate of 1 in 5 positions.   

Councilor Morrill asked if it has been looked at as cost per facility or as a whole. 

Mr. Kash stated that the comparison has been done both ways.  

Councilor Morrill asked about the COVID money and how it was disbursed.  

Colonel Kash stated that it was prorated to the facilities depending on number of beds and levels of care.   

Ashley Johnston via Zoom submitted a message through Chat stating that there were 35 beds with 
veterans and 22 with spouses.   

Councilor Morrill asked about the lease for the property 

Colonel Kash stated that the lease is $1.00 per year for 99 years.   

Troy Haney, Veteran, and Caribou resident stated that he is concerned because the board made a decision 
and that there are no board members North of Bangor.  The VA clinic is moving, Veteran’s Home is 
closing, and who has ownership of the building? 

Colonel Kash stated that they will not close until all the residents find suitable placement of their 
choosing.  

Councilor Theriault wanted clarification on the line of their choosing. 

Colonel Kash explained that the residents were provided notices that included list of facilities in a 60-mile 
radius.  The closest Veteran’s Home is in Bangor.   

10



February 28, 2022 
22-06 Pg. 7 

Mayor Smith read a letter from Governor Mills:

 

11



February 28, 2022 
22-06 Pg. 8 

 

12



February 28, 2022 
22-06 Pg. 9 

Senator Jackson stated that he has great respect for Mr. Kash.  He explained that he is not a service 
member and that it does not give him pleasure to go against them.  He stated that he believed that on 
February 16th he was notified by Kris Doody that there was a possibility of the Veteran’s Homes in 
Caribou and Machias may close, and that he had no knowledge of it before hand.  He explained that 
Nursing Homes are very important for our State and our communities.  He explained that people typically 
contact him regarding concerns. The only conversations that have been had with Mr. Kash and his 
lobbyists about the Veteran’s Homes in three years was shortly after Kris had notified him.  They wanted 
to come in later to meet, and he asked to meet as soon as possible.  He stated that every time he has 
contacted them to help place someone there, he is always told that it is full.  He stated that he did not 
agree with the fact that Veteran’s in Aroostook County are diminishing to that extent, and even if they 
are, he does not see that as a reason to close the facility.  

Colonel Kash explained that the Governor has appointed 4 new board members, reappointed 4 members 
and appointed one as ex-officio and has not acted on one board member on another member to reappoint.  

Councilor Morrill asked that regardless of what the Senator does, that they may not have to listen and can 
go in and shut the places down.   

Senator Jackson stated that he does not believe so and he believes that they would have never come 
forward to have the towns come forward to be removed from the enabling statute if that were the case.   

The bill that stripped the names of the towns out of the Statute also listed Caribou and Machias for 
modernization.  LD 1524 in the 127th legislature is the bill that made the changes removing the towns 
from the statute.   

Councilor Morrell stated that he has not looked at the finances, but that he would take his word that it is a 
loss.  He raised the question of how we can keep the organization liquid so they can operate. 

Senator Jackson stated that the legislature has a funding mechanism, they are not sure exactly what is 
needed, but there is a stream there with an appropriation amount.  He stated that right now it almost 
sounds like there is no amount of money that would keep it open, but they are going to try.  

Councilor Morrill explained that in his experience he has seen long term facilities have another company 
come in to look at the facility and its operations to see if there are any changes that can be made to help 
straighten things out. 

Representative Bernard stated that she has had the opportunity to meet with Colonel Kash last week, but 
she has additional questions to ask.  How was the decision made in October, but the information was not 
made public until March.  She stated that she understands the business aspect of it, with not wanting to 
have employees leave.  She explained that it is very disturbing to her that nobody was made aware and 
that they are connected to the hospital with bricks and mortar.  In conversation with Kris Doody, she was 
told the hospital was only made aware a couple of weeks ago.  Her biggest question would be is there a 
dollar amount that would help you to stay open, maybe not indefinitely but to kick the can down the road.    

Colonel Kash stated that the Governor wrote the board and asked them to reconsider.  He stated that no 
amount of money is going to change the underlying issue that they are dealing with from the declining 
population and workforce challenges that they are facing.  He explained that he has met with Kris Doody 
several times, starting in early December to tell her what the intentions were.  They are hopeful that 
tomorrow when they meet with the Governor that they can find out what she wants and work on coming 
to more of a mutual understanding of the situation.  He stated that now they have been able to get the 
administrations attention (meaning the Governor and her predecessors).   

13



February 28, 2022 
22-06 Pg. 10 

Deputy Mayor Boma read a letter from the Congress of the United States: 

 

14



February 28, 2022 
22-06 Pg. 11 

 
Tim Todd, Clerk of the Cary Hospital District Board explained that he is not part of the operating board.  
He expressed concern because the City owns buildings and grounds.  He explained that he had previously 
not been able to come to the City Council to provide details because of a non-disclosure clause that the 
board had in the bylaws.  They have made changes to the bylaws, and he now plans to meet quarterly with 
the City Council to update them and have an open line of communication.  He explained that they can not 
take a hit, there are lights, water, sewer, heat and much more to think about with the possible closure.   

Mayor Smith read Resolution 02-02-2022 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Willey to accept Resolution 02-02-2022  

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – 
Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

Motion made by Councilor Morrell to bring Kris Doody and the Hospital District Board in to demand 
answers.   

Motion failed for lack of a second.   

Brian Cullins, Treasurer for the Caribou Hospital District Board - explained that with the recent changes to 
the bylaws they will now be able to come to the Council to keep them informed to what is going on at the 
hospital.  He explained that they had not been getting the information before, but with the changes they 
should have a more open line of communication between Cary Medical Center and the Council.   

Council Agenda Item #5:  Minutes 

There were no minutes submitted for approval.  

15



February 28, 2022 
22-06 Pg. 12 

Council Agenda Item #6:  Bid Openings, Awards, and Appointments  

a.  Rec Department bids for metal siding installation (Parks & Recreation Superintendent) 

Motion made to table the discussion regarding Rec Department bids for metal siding installation bids to a 
future meeting.   

b.  Caribou Congregate Housing, per by-laws City Council must appoint two members 

Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Councilor Theriault to appoint Lisa Plourde & Kenneth 
Murchison to the Caribou Congregate Housing Board.  

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – 
Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #7:  Public Hearings and Possible Action Items 

a.  Ordinance 3, 2022 Series Amending Chapter 13 Land Use Ordinance (Home Operations) 

Public Hearing Opened at 8:10 p.m.  

Troy Haney, Caribou resident and business owner expressed his concerns regarding the proposed changes 
to Chapter 13.  He explained that it is starting to look like micromanaging home businesses.  It has items 
such as the size of the sign that is allowable, how many customers they can have been being limited to 
two per hour, or eight visits per day.  Vehicles to go there have a max gross vehicle weight of 23,000 
pounds.  This would limit deliveries to the premises that the business may need to have to be able to 
operate.  The information also states that there can be no more than one non-resident employee and that it 
needs to be in a single-family dwelling unit only.   

Dan Bagley, Chairman of the Planning Board explained that this was intended to make home businesses 
easier, to streamline the process and to make it easier and less onerous for home businesses to be created 
and be operated.  The strategy in doing that we are looking at across the board for other changes to 
Chapter 13.  We are working on grouping the businesses between two categories.  One category would be 
very simple home-based low impact that could be approved by the CEO directly, and then they would not 
have to come to the Planning Board, and a large majority of the home occupations that they have seen that 
come to the Planning Board and go through the whole Planning Board process and public hearing are 
minor things that could be approved by the CEO.  These changes allow that to happen, and so the 
Planning Board will only hear those higher impact type of home businesses.  To stratify those into two 
categories we had established some criteria.   

Councilor Theriault asked if the places need a permit and if there is a fee for them.  

Kenneth Murchison, CEO/Zoning Administrator explained that for Home Occupancy there is a fee and 
that he believes that it is $90.   

Closed Public Hearing:  8:25 p.m. 

Council Agenda Item #8:  Reports by Staff and Committees 

a.  January 2022 Financials (Finance Director) 

Carl Grant, Finance Director reviewed the January 2022 Financial Report.  

Motion made by Councilor Morrill seconded by Deputy Mayor Boma to accept the January 2022 
Financials as presented.   

16



February 28, 2022 
22-06 Pg. 13 

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – 
Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

b.  Tax Acquired property Bid List 

Carl Grant, Finance Director reviewed the bid list with the Council and explained how the calculations 
are calculated to find the minimum sale amounts on the properties.  This was presented as a first read.  

c.  Manager’s Report 

Manager Thompson reviewed the City Manager’s Report dated February 28, 2022.  

Council Agenda Item #9:  New Business Ordinances and Resolutions 

b.  Consider request by the American Legion to hold an additional night of Bingo 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Deputy Mayor Boma to approve the American Legion’s 
request to hold an additional night of Bingo.  

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – 
Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

c.  Ambulance Billing – third party billing contract 

Scott Susi, Fire Chief explained the changes happening to the Ambulance Billing Department.  He 
explained that Caribou has always had its own billing department, and he wouldn’t want to get rid of it 
because it is ours, and at this time there is only one employee in the department.  With natural attrition 
and the employee retiring they have been researching and talking to different places and the best one that 
they have come up with and the biggest bang for their buck is Comstar.  They come highly recommended, 
and they have individual departments that deal with each type of insurance, therefor it’s not just one 
person doing it, it is multiple, and all the transactions would happen electronically with them.  They 
would charge 4% of the revenue that they get for them.  There would be significant savings to the City by 
outsourcing this to somebody else.  The only hard part is that it would take about a year to clear up the 
accounts because they will not take on anything that you have already done, and the department has been 
very busy.  The overlap is a means to solving something for them moving forward.  They would have to 
finance the 4% this year which would come out of the revenue side this year but the savings moving 
would be roughly $153,000 to the budget.  He explained that they would like to start them and get the ball 
rolling and start April 1st.   

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Theriault to accept the Ambulance Third 
Party Billing Contract as presented.  

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – 
Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

d.  Administrative Correction to Land Use Table – Campgrounds 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Theriault to accept the Administrative 
Correction to Land Use Table – Campgrounds as presented.   

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – 
Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

e.  Police Station Referendum Question 

17



February 28, 2022 
22-06 Pg. 14 

Councilor Morrell asked if there were final numbers yet, he would like to know what the number is that the 
committee would like to spend on it.   

Deputy Mayor Boma stated that they would like to ask the same question as the last time, but have it be a 
binding question rather than a survey question as it was before.   

Councilor Theriault explained that we have the architects estimate and it is quite detailed.   

Motion made by Councilor Theriault, seconded by Deputy Mayor Boma to place question as presented to 
referendum in June.  

 

Councilor Morrell stated that in his opinion we cannot afford a 10-million-dollar police station.   

Councilor Theriault explained that there have been several architects that have looked at the options that 
have been presented.  There were several options presented and all of them for one reason or another 
would not work as far as renovations and that there would be too much to do.  The figure that the architect 
had given was just over. 

18



February 28, 2022 
22-06 Pg. 15 

Councilor Goughan would like to know why there are no minutes regarding committee meeting.  He 
expressed concern about not having plans for the Police Station.   

Deputy Mayor Boma explained that the Website has information regarding the plans for the Police 
Station, but there are no minutes for Committee meetings.  She explained that we have had an open 
house, and that the site designs have been available for the public to see.   

Councilor Morrell stated that he believes the fundamental problem with this is that it is laying on the 
employees that want it and the committee that wants to see it done.   

Councilor Goughan stated that if you really want to know the pulse of the community, wait until 
November.   

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – No, D. Morrell – No, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – Yes, 
L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – No.  (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #10:  Old Business 

a.  Broadband discussion 

Mayor Smith explained that there had recently been a workshop with the CUD and there was a resolution 
developed to show support for the CUD.  The resolution is not a commitment from the City for funds, it 
just shows support for the project the CUD.   

Mayor Smith read Resolution 2-3-2022 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Willey to approve Resolution 2-3-2022 as 
presented.   

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – 
Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

b.  2022 Priorities and Goals Discussion 

Mayor Smith decided to skip the item.   

c.  2022 Municipal Budget Presentations 

Council had a brief discussion and stated that there would be a Capital Committee meeting on Friday at 
3:30.   

Manager Thompson explained that there is a public hearing scheduled for the next meeting.  She asked the 
Council for any guidance or input they may have.   

Councilor Goughan urged everyone to look at their fuel costs and electric costs on their budgets. 

Councilor Theriault suggested maybe looking at adding an assistant manager position.  

Manager Thompson explained that she has looked at the possibility and once you put all the numbers 
together with salary and benefits it would be close to $100,000 per year.   

Council Agenda Item #11:  Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members  

Councilor Willey stated that the CRRC met on February 15th, as part of their discussion Ken Murchison 
reviewed his telephone discussions with area managers concerning development of the Riverfront.  Presque 

19



February 28, 2022 
22-06 Pg. 16 

Isle, Washburn, Fort Fairfield and Limestone were all interested in meeting to discuss developing the trails 
and walking paths along the railroad corridor that could be part of a central Aroostook project.   

Council Agenda Item #12:  Next Regular Meetings:  February 28, March 14 & 28 

Council Agenda Item #13:  Executive Session(s) (May be called to discuss matters identified under 
MRSA, Title 1 §405.6  

Council did not enter executive session. Items that were scheduled will be moved to the next regular Council 
meeting agenda.  

Council Agenda Item #14:  Adjournment 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Deputy Mayor Boma to adjourn the meeting at 9:17 p.m. 

Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – Yes, L. 
Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

 

Danielle Brissette, Secretary 

20



March 21, 2022 
22-08 Pg. 1 

Council Agenda Item #1:  Roll Call 

The Caribou City Council held a Special City Council Meeting on Monday, March 21, 2022, at 6:00 p.m. 
in Council Chambers with the following members present: Mayor Smith, Deputy Mayor Boma, 
Councilors Goughan, Morrell, Morrill, Theriault and Willey.  

Penny Thompson, City Manager was present at the meeting.  

Department Managers Kenneth Murchison (CEO/Zoning Administrator), Lisa Plourde (Housing 
Director), Peter Baldwin (Library Director), Gary Marquis (Parks & Recreation Superintendent), and Carl 
Grant (Finance Director) were present at the meeting.   

Melissa Lizotte of the Aroostook Republican covered the meeting, and it was broadcasted via Spectrum 
and YouTube.   

Council Agenda Item #2:  Invocation / Inspirational Thought 

Mayor Smith read an invocation.  

Council Agenda Item #3:  Pledge of Allegiance 

Mayor Smith led the Pledge of Allegiance 

Council Agenda Item #4:  Public Forum 

Jason Parent – Caribou Resident and Executive Director of the Aroostook County Action Program 
explained some of the services that have been offered to the Citizens of Aroostook County.  He explained 
a new supportive housing complex on Edgemont Drive in Presque Isle that would have 14 beds, and 
studio style apartments.  They help through their WIC program, Housing assistance, Workforce 
development, Heating assistance and much more.  They now have a team that works with individuals in 
recovery to help transition them into employment.  In the last year they have put over 13 million dollars 
back into the local economy and 1.9 million dollars just in Caribou alone.  

During the pandemic a team was created to help families in quarantine.  The team helps to deliver items 
such as groceries, thermometers, and other items dropped off at the doorsteps of citizens in need.   

Mr. Parent explained that ACAP is very happy with the space that is donated from the City of Caribou so 
that they can have a location for their heating appointments.  Many times, thy ask municipalities for 
donations and it is forty cents per capita.  For Caribou they would request $3047.60 in appropriations.   

ACAP has a Dental Hygienist, Lucy Morin, who works in all schools in the County.   

ACAP aids homeowners, helping with weatherization, and home repairs.  They receive lots of requests 
for Roof replacements.   

The Aroostook County Action Program is celebrating its 50th year of service to the community this year.  

Council Agenda item #4:  Minutes 

a.  March 14, 2022 – Regular City Council meeting 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Theriault to accept the minutes from March 
14, 2022, as presented.  

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – 
Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #6:  Bid Openings, Awards, and Appointments 

21



March 21, 2022 
22-08 Pg. 2 

a. ACAP Proclamation celebrating 50 years.  

Mayor Smith read the proclamation declaring May 2022 as a Community Action and ACAP Month in the 
City of Caribou. 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Willey to approve the proclamation declaring 
May 2022 as a Community Action and ACAP Month in the City of Caribou. 

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – 
Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #7:  Public Hearings and Possible Action Items 

There were no items scheduled for discussion. 

Council Agenda Item #8:  Reports by Staff and Committees 

There were not items scheduled for discussion. 

Council Agenda Item #9:  New Business, Ordinances and Resolutions 

a.  Introduction of Ordinance Number 3, 2022 Series, An Ordinance Amending Section 10-205 Basic 
Provisions (Chapter 10 Planning, Article II Tax Increment Financing) 

Mayor Smith introduced Ordinance No. 3, 2022 Series, An Ordinance Amending Section 10-205 Basic 
Provisions.  

Council Agenda Item #10:  Old Business 

a.  2022 Municipal Budget 

Council had a discussion regarding the proposed budget.  They discussed the options of trying to flatline 
the budget and suggested that the departments look at their budgets again to see what they can do.  It was 
noted that during the uncertain times and the rising costs this may not be the best idea.  The 2022 
Municipal Budget will be back on the next agenda for more discussion.  

Council Agenda Item #11:  Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members 

Councilor Goughan explained that he would like department 75 looked at and to consider the request by 
ACAP. 

Councilor Willey stated that for the Library, Senator Collins would like to come up and do a program 
there this spring.   

Councilor Theriault said that they had a Highway Protection meeting, she gave a shout out to Dave and 
his crew for doing a wonderful job.  She stated that she agrees with Councilor Goughan and that we 
should give the money to ACAP as well.  

Mayor Smith stated that he agrees with giving the funding to ACAP as well.  He explained that he was 
able to tour the Irving Farms facility with the Manager and that there is an open invitation for any of the 
Council to visit the facility.  

Deputy Mayor Boma stated that she also agrees with providing the funding to ACAP, she also gave a 
shout out to Gary and Parks & Rec for the Winter Carnival and to the local businesses that helped as well 
for an awesome job.   

Councilor Morrill agreed with Deputy Mayor Boma and stated that Caribou was busier on Saturday due 
to the events of the Winter Carnival.  He also wants to remind the Council about the importance of the 

22



March 21, 2022 
22-08 Pg. 3 

Solar project.   He would also like to recognize the teams that were able to travel to play basketball.  He 
stated that the AYBL team was able to go to Rhode Island to play and another team was able to go to Bar 
Harbor to play as well.   

Councilor Morrell stated he also agreed with the ACAP funding.  He would also like to have the Chief of 
Police come to provide updates to the Council on different events that happen in town.  

Council Agenda Item #12:  Next Regular Meetings: 

March 28, April 11 & 25 

Council Agenda Item #13:  Executive Session(s) (May be called to discuss matters identified under 
MRSA, Title 1, §405.6) 

b.  Credit Enhancement Agreement – Downtown TIF District (Economic Development) 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Willey to enter into executive session at 7:17 
p.m. to discuss Credit Enhancement Agreement – Downtown TIF District (Economic Development) 
under MRSA, Title 1, §405.6.C. 

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – 
Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

Council exited executive session at 7:56 p.m.  

No action taken.  

Council had a brief discussion about community solar and the desire to get that on the agenda soon.   

Council Agenda Item #14:  Adjournment 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Deputy Mayor Boma to adjourn the meeting at 8:05 p.m. 

Vote was unanimous.  

 

Danielle Brissette, Secretary 

 

23



March 28, 2022 
22-09 Pg. 1 

Council Agenda Item #1:  Roll Call 

The Caribou City Council held a City Council Meeting on Monday, March 28, 2022, at 6:00 p.m. in 
Council Chambers with the following members present: Mayor Smith, Deputy Mayor Boma, Councilors 
Goughan, Morrell, Morrill, Theriault and Willey.  

Penny Thompson, City Manager was present at the meeting.  

Department Managers Kenneth Murchison (CEO/Zoning Administrator), Lisa Plourde (Housing 
Director), Peter Baldwin (Library Director), Gary Marquis (Parks & Recreation Superintendent), Scott 
Susi (Fire Chief), Michael Gahagan (Police Chief), Dave Ouellette (Public Works Director) and Carl 
Grant (Finance Director) were present at the meeting.   

Melissa Lizotte of the Aroostook Republican covered the meeting, and it was broadcasted via Spectrum 
and YouTube.   

Council Agenda Item #2:  Invocation / Inspirational Thought 

Pastor Michael Sullivan, of the Caribou United Baptist Church offered the invocation.  

Council Agenda Item #3:  Pledge of Allegiance 

Mayor Smith led the Pledge of Allegiance.  

Council Agenda Item #4:  Public Forum 

Amber Madore of Caribou came in to speak about her property being foreclosed on and being up for bid.  
She would like to be able to retain her property and is working with ACAP for assistance to pay the back 
taxes.   

Council suggested to for her to get the information to the City Manager regarding her plans for repayment 
before the next meeting when the sales of the properties take place.   

Council Agenda Item #5:  Minutes 

There were no minutes submitted for approval.  

Council Agenda Item #6:  Bid Openings, Awards, and Appointments 

a.  RFP Results: Painting, Janitorial, and Real Estate Assessing 

A Request for Proposal (RFP) was recently advertised for interior painting of two offices on the second 
floor of the City office.  Manager Thompson explained that the bids received for the RFP’s were all more 
then expected for the services.   

The two bids received prior to the deadline were: 

Paint By Ray:   $1,750.00 

Caribou Painting Company: $2,054.95 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Morrell to reject all bids for painting.  

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – 
Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

24



March 28, 2022 
22-09 Pg. 2 

Manager Thompson explained that an RFP was advertised for janitorial services at the Caribou Municipal 
Building:  City offices & Caribou Police Department, and Caribou Public Library.  This included items 
that would be done on an annual or semi-annual basis (wash walls, shampoo rugs etc.) The last RFP the 
City offices and Caribou Public Library was in 2013.  The Police Department had a part-time janitor until 
2020 when the William Gahagan retired.  Since that time, the budget for that item was cut so that just a 
minimum amount was done by outside contractors, while staff did most of the day-to-day work in 
addition to their regular duties.   

One bid was received prior to the deadline 

Honestly Clean LLC $47,695 (2022 – for remaining 9 months) 

   $66,132 (2023 – for 12 months) 

   $68,778 (2024 – for 12 months) 

Additionally, we obtained a quote for the additional winter work (i.e., more salt tracked in so the floor 
would need to be mopped each day).  The additional cost per week is based on $26/hr.   

The bid was higher than expected.   

Motion made by Councilor Theriault, seconded by Deputy Mayor Boma to reject the bid received for the 
janitorial services RFP.   

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – 
Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

Manager Thompson explained that the City of Caribou has been without a full-time assessor for several 
months.  Staff has done the tasks needed for various functions of the position but with the tax 
commitment season coming up there needed to be a full-time commitment to real estate assessment 
administration.  Deputy Tax Assessor, Tony Michaud will still be completing all the tasks related to 
Business Personal Property assessment.   

Caribou’s Board of Assessors receive information about the practices and methodology used within the 
department.  They sign the paperwork (Ratio Declaration, Tax Commitment and Municipal Valuation 
Return, etc.) associated with the work of the department.  Therefore, they need to have a comfort level 
with the work done in support of the proper tax assessment administration activities in the City.   

A RFP was advertised for real estate assessment services.  After the proposals were received, the Board of 
Assessors expressed concern for the level of daily service provided if a full-time employee was replaced 
with a contract assessor.  At their direction, an advertisement was placed for a Deputy Assessor.  No 
applications were received from qualified candidates.  The Board of Assessors met again on March 9th to 
discuss the next steps and have recommended Steven Joseph Salley to provide real estate assessment 
services to the City of Caribou on a contract basis.   

Proposals were received from:  

Aroostook Regional Assessing Office  Presque Isle, Maine 

Saucier Services    Connor Township, Maine 

Steven Joseph Salley    Pittsfield, Maine 

The proposals were all different in the way that pricing was calculated, and the final total amount of the 
contract will be determined by the amount of work required.   

25



March 28, 2022 
22-09 Pg. 3 

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Boma, seconded by Councilor Willey to allow City Manager Penny 
Thompson to execute a contract with Steven Joseph Salley for real estate assessment services fort the 
2022 tax year.   

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – 
Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #7:  Public Hearings and Possible Action Items 

There were no items scheduled for discussion.  

Council Agenda Item #8:  Reports by Staff and Committees  

a.  February 2022 Financials 

Carl Grant (Finance Director) reviewed the February 2022 Financial report.  

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Deputy Mayor Boma to accept the February 2022 
Financials as presented.  

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – 
Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

b.  Payment of taxes:  Account # 3765, 29 Park Street  

Carl Grant (Finance Director) explained that payment has been received for the properties of 29 Park 
Street which was paid by her daughter who is the power of attorney.  

At 960 Access Highway from the current owners of the property stated that he had not been receiving the 
notices and that they were going to his former girlfriend’s address. He has made a payment for the full 
amount owed on the taxes.   

Today a payment was made for the property at 20 Pioneer by Jeffrey Curtis and Melissa Dube, they 
recently acquired the property, and it was changed at the registry of deeds three days before the 
foreclosure took place.  This was able to be verified that the transfer took place through the registry.  It is 
suggested to put it in the name of Jeffrey Curtis and Melissa Dube the new owners.  

Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Councilor Theriault to accept all three of the tax account 
payments as presented.  

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – 
Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

c.  Manager’s Report 

Manger Thompson reviewed the City Manager’s Report dated March 28, 2022 

Council Agenda Item #9:  New Business, Ordinances and Resolutions 

a.  Presentation on Community Solar 

Shawn Pelletier came to provide some information regarding Solar Energy.  He explained that he was one 
of the original investors in the Hilltop project.  Solar Sites are in strategic locations in places such as 
Presque Isle, Mapleton, Caribou, and other locations around the county.   He stated that if you can take 
advantage in the discounts, you can receive you should sign up.  Each solar site is put into a queue and 
must have customers/subscribers before it can be built.   

b.  Credit Enhancement Agreement – 60 Access Highway 

26



March 28, 2022 
22-09 Pg. 4 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Theriault to enter into a Credit Enhancement 
Agreement with Pelletier Enterprises, LLC for 14 years at 80%.   

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – No, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – 
Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

c.  Credit Enhancement Agreement – 987 Presque Isle Road 

Motion made by Councilor Morrell, seconded by Deputy Mayor Boma to accept the Credit Enhancement 
Agreement with North State Transportation LLC for 15 years at 80%   

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – No, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – 
Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

d.  Credit Enhancement Agreement – 987 Presque Isle Road 

Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Councilor Theriault to enter into a Credit Enhancement 
Agreement with Irving Farms, Inc for 15 years at 80%. 

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – No, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – 
Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #10:  Old Business 

a.  2022 Municipal Budget 

 i.  Expense Budget 

Council had a brief discussion regarding the proposed Expense Budget for 2022.  They discussed Fire 
Hydrant rates and responsibility of maintenance and keeping the hydrants cleared out and open in case of 
emergency.   

Motion made by Councilor Theriault, seconded by Councilor Willey to accept the Expense Budget for 
2022 as presented.   

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – No, D. Morrell – No, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – 
Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

 ii.  Capital Budget 

Motion made by Councilor Theriault, seconded by Deputy Mayor Boma to accept the Capital Budget for 
2022 as presented.   

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – No, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – 
Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #11:  Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members 

There were no comments made.  

Council Agenda Item #12:  Next Regular Meetings: April 11 & 25 

Council Agenda Item #13:  Executive Session(s) (May be called to discuss matters identified under 
MRSA, Title 1, §405.6) 

Council did not enter Executive Session 

Council Agenda Item #14:  Adjournment 

27



March 28, 2022 
22-09 Pg. 5 

Motion made by Councilor Theriault, seconded by Councilor Willey to adjourn the meeting at 7:30 p.m. 

Vote was unanimous.  

Danielle Brissette, Secretary 

 

 

 

 

 

 

28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   April 11, 2022 
Re:   Public Hearing on Ordinance 3, 2022 Series  

  

This Ordinance was introduced on March 21, 2022. The Public Hearing will be held tonight. 

In trying to work out a solution to an issue with a Credit Enhancement agreement that was 
approved by the Caribou City Council and not approved by DECD in May 2021, a possible 
solution includes amending Chapter 10. This adds language to give the Caribou City Council 
flexibility to increase a Credit Enhancement Agreement maximum from 80% to 100% if the 
“Current Assessed Value” exceeds the “Original Assessed Value”. 

 

Suggested action: 

Please make a motion to approve “Ordinance 3, 2022 Series, Section 10-205 Chapter 10 
Planning, Article II” as presented. 

 

 

81



 
ORDINANCE No. 3, 2022 Series 

 
City of Caribou 

County of Aroostook 
State of Maine 

 
An Ordinance Amending Section 10-205 Basic Provisions of Chapter 10 Planning, Article II 
Tax Increment Financing 
 
Short Title: An Ordinance Amending Basic Provisions of Credit Enhancement Agreements 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Caribou is a Local Unit of Government under the State of Maine and is 
granted home rule authority under Maine Revised Statutes, Title 30-A, §3001; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Caribou has adopted as part of its ordinances and regulations Section 10-
205 Basic Provisions of Chapter 10 Planning, Article II Tax Increment Financing; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Caribou has created Tax Increment Financing Districts within the City to 
provide economic benefits to the community; and 
  

WHEREAS, the Caribou City Council has determined that an amendment to Section 10-205 Basic 
Provisions of Chapter 10 Planning, Article II Tax Increment Financing is necessary; and 
 
NOW THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Caribou, County of Aroostook, State of 
Maine, pursuant to the requirements of the City of Caribou Charter, Section 2.11, does ordain the 
following: 
 
Section I. Chapter 10, Article II § 10-205 Basic Provisions Revision 
The following addition will be made: 
12. The City may deviate from provisions 8-10 when working with a project that will develop or 
repurpose a property or properties where the “Current Assessed Value” exceeds the “Original 
Assessed Value”. 
 
Section II.  Severability 
If any part of this ordinance or the application thereof to any person or circumstances shall, for 
any reason, be adjudged by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unconstitutional or invalid, such 
judgment shall not affect, impair of invalidate the remainder of this ordinance or the application 
thereof to other persons and circumstances, but shall be confined to its operation to the section, 
subdivision, sentence or part of the section and the persons and circumstances directly involved in 
the controversy in which such judgment shall have been rendered.  It is hereby declared to be the 
intent of the City Council that this section would have been adopted if such invalid section, 
provisions, subdivision, sentence or part of a section or application had not been included. 
 

82



Section III. Posting and Effective Date 

This ordinance, being introduced on March 21, 2022  and a public hearing being held on April 11, 
2022 was duly passed by the City Council of the City of Caribou, Maine, this 11th day of April, 
2022. This ordinance shall become effective 30 days after adoption by the Council.  

 
 
______________________________   ______________________________ 
Jody Smith, Mayor     Courtney Boma, Deputy Mayor  
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Joan Theriault, Councilor    R. Mark Goughan, Councilor 
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Doug Morrell, Councilor    Lou Willey, Councilor 
 
______________________________   
John Morrill, Councilor  
 
 
 
 
        Attest:_____________________________ 

 Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 
 

83



 
 

 
CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  
FROM:  Danielle Brissette  
RE:   June Primary, Municipal, & RSU #39 Budget Validation Elections 
DATE:  April 1, 2022 
 

 
The Clerk’s Office is preparing for the June 14, 2022  State Primary, Municipal and RSU #39 
Budget Validation Elections and is requesting Council approval for the following.  

 1.  Approval of and 8:00 a.m. opening Time for June 14, 2022 Election 

 2.  Appointment of Danielle Brissette as Election Warden, Cherie Garman and Kristina  
      Drinkall as Deputy Wardens for the June 14, 2022 Election  

Recommended Motion: 

Move to set the start time as 8:00 a.m. and to appoint Danielle Brissette as Election Warden, 
Cherie Garman and Kristina Drinkall as Deputy Wardens for the June 14, 2022 Election. 

84



 
CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  
FROM:  Danielle Brissette, City Clerk  
RE:   Appointment of Election Clerks  
DATE:  April 1, 2022 
 

 
Per MRSA Title 21-A Section 503-A, all nominations for election clerks must be submitted to 
the municipal officers each general election year (even-numbered years).  This will be on the 
April 11, 2022, City Council Agenda.   

Below are the names of those individuals that have expressed interest in serving as Election 
Clerks.   

The appointment would be from May 1, 2022 to April 30, 2024.  

2022-2024 Election Clerks: 

Laura Adams 

Barbara Aiken 

Joan Albert 

Beth-Ann Alden 

Roy Alden 

Cheryl Barnes 

Donna Barnes  

Janice Beaulieu 

Patricia “Pat” Caspersen 

Julie Cook 

Patty Corriveau 

Darylen Cote 

Carole Doody 

Judith Duprey 

Dale Gordon 

Diane Gove 

Gail Hagelstein 

Kalen Hill 

Meagan Irving 

Jacqueline Lambert 

Elizabeth Long 

Idella Marquis  

Linda McLaughlin 

Betty McNeal 

Dale Morin 

Jennifer Olson 

Katherine Panaro 

Samantha Paradis 

Dawn Peterson 

Chad Saunders 

John Shaw 

Deborah Sirois 

Nancy Solman 

Andrea Swanberg 

Karen Thibodeau  

Nancy Todd 

 

 85



86



87



88



City Manager's Report
April 11, 2022

Economic Projects

   

River Front - Powerplants
City Council and City Manager took a field trip with Michelle Hersey to the Steam Plant. There are multiple types of asbestos‐
containing materials. The City Council should discuss next steps.

Broadband Initiative No new updates.

CDBG Unfortunately, none of the projects brought forward were a good candidate for the CDBG program this year.

Ogren Dump Solar Project No new updates

Events and Marketing City staff is working on plans for City‐wide Yard Sale, Thursdays on Sweden, Caribou Cares and the Craft Fair!

Landbank No new updates

Chapter 13 Rewrite No new updates

Federal American Rescue Plan Act
Work is ongoing with the ARPA grant application to the County of Aroostook. A public hearing is required and should be introduced 
tonight.

Blight Cleanup No new updates

Birdseye Cleanup No new updates

60 Access Highway No new updates

River Front - Master Plan No new updates

Façade Improvement Program On tonight's agenda

Aldrich ATV/Snowmobile Storage No new updates

Jarosz Storage - Limestone St No new updates

Business Outreach
Met several new businesses as a result of the Façade Improvement Grant process. Several are excited to partner with the City at 
Thursdays on Sweden Street. 89



Other Administrative Projects

Tax Acquired Property Policy Recent bids are on tonight's agenda

Nylander
There should be a discussion about operations at the Nylander. The capital request was not funded, but funds were approved for 
operations.

Fire Structural Work No new updates

Fire Station Renovations This is part of the ARPA request to the County of Aroostook.

Police Station
Part‐time seasonal grant writer has worked on a Congressionally Directed Spending request with Senator Collins' office. She has 
moved on to working on other funding sources. 

River Road No new updates

Investment Policy No new updates

Trailer Park Closure No new updates

Fish Hatchery Bridge No new updates

Cable Franchise Renewal No new updates

Airport No new updates

Personnel Policy Juneteeth holiday on tonight's agenda

Procurement Policy No new updates

New LED Street lights The major outage on Herschel and Main Street has been repaired

Comp Plan Update
Staff met with Chief Edward PeterPaul on Thursday. The Micmac Nation has planners on staff and is willing to help out with some 
planning.

COVID-19 Status No new updates

Administrative Approvals Angel's Taxi, renewal of taxi license; Extension of Premises application approved for Northern Maine Brewing Company

Personnel Changes Denise Lausier, a 24‐year employee, is moving out of the city manager's office and into the finance department.

Age-Friendly Efforts Age‐Friendly meeting on Wednesday. Great programs being planned. 

Other Updates RSU#39 Budget meeting 3/30; Aroostook Waste Solutions meeting held 4/1; Cary Board of Directors meeting held  4/4  90



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   April 11, 2022 
Re:   Public Hearing on ARPA Grant Application to the County of Aroostook  

  

In February, the Caribou City Council approved a Letter of Intent to make a formal grant 
application to the County of Aroostook. The grant is for matching funds in the amount of 
$150,000 for a proposed project consisting of  building remediation and critical care equipment 
needed at the Caribou Fire and Ambulance Department which fall under the program guidelines.  

The public hearing is a requirement for the submission of the City of Caribou’s grant application 
for matching funds available through the American Rescue Plan Act funds received by the County 
of Aroostook. I would encourage anyone with input to please present it in writing or orally to 
make it part of the record. Ten percent of the grant scoring is based on “Citizen Participation”. 

 

Suggested action: 

Please set a public hearing date of April 25, 2022 for the ARPA Grant Application. 

 

 

91



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   April 11, 2022 
Re:   Introduction of ARPA Conflict of Interest Policy 

  

In a legal update received from Maine Municipal Association, all municipalities must adopt a 
conflict-of-interest policy to spend their ARPA funds in compliance with U.S. Treasury 
regulations.  

Maine Municipal Association has provided a sample uniform federal grant guidance conflict of 
interest policy. This is provided on the following pages. 

 

Suggestion action: 

This can be treated as a “first read”. If it is satisfactory, staff will put into the proper format and 
bring back for a formal introduction. 

 

 

 

 

92



Sample Uniform Federal Grant Guidance Conflict of Interest Policy  
Note:  Standard Terms & Conditions accompanying ARPA grant awards require that recipients maintain 
written policies governing conflicts of interest and gifts. This sample policy contains relevant language 
from the Uniform Guidance, 2 C.F.R. § 200.318.   
Municipalities are strongly urged to review local charters, ordinances and policies and consult with legal 
counsel before adopting this policy. 
 

Municipality of _______________ 
Conflict of Interest Policy for Local Fiscal Recovery Fund Projects 

2 CFR § 200.318 
I. Purpose 

 
The purpose of this policy is to establish conflict of interest guidelines that meet 
requirements under 2 C.F.R. § 200.318(c)(1) for procuring goods, services, and 
construction or repair projects funded in whole or part by federal Local Fiscal Recovery 
Funds received pursuant to the American Rescue Plan Act (“ARPA”)(Pub. L. No. 117-2, 
March 11, 2021).  
 

II. Policy 
 

This policy applies when the municipality procures goods (apparatus, supplies, materials, 
and equipment), services, and construction or repair projects funded in part or whole 
with federal Local Fiscal Recovery Funds received pursuant to the American Rescue Plan 
Act (ARPA).  This policy also applies to any subrecipient of the ARPA funds.   
 
The employee(s) or official(s) responsible for managing the ARPA award shall review the 
notice of award to identify any additional conflict of interest prohibitions or requirements 
associated with the award, and shall notify all employees, officers, officials and agents, 
including subrecipients, of the requirements of this policy and any additional prohibitions 
or requirements. 
 
A. Conflicts of Interest.  No officer, official, employee, or agent of the municipality may 

participate directly or indirectly in the selection, award, or administration of a 
contract supported by ARPA funding if he or she has a real or apparent conflict of 
interest.  A real or apparent conflict exists when any of the following parties has a 
financial or other interest in or receives a tangible personal benefit from a firm 
considered for award of a contract: 

1. the employee, officer, official or agent involved in the selection, award, or 
administration of a contract;  

2. any member of his or her immediate family;  

3. his or her partner; or  

4. an organization which employs or is about to employ any of these parties.  
 

Any officer, official, employee or agent with an actual, apparent, or potential conflict 
of interest as defined in this policy shall report the conflict to his or her immediate 

93



Page 2   MMA 3-2022 

supervisor or, in the case of a board member, shall make disclosure to at a duly 
noticed board meeting.  Any such conflict shall be disclosed in writing to the federal 
award agency or pass-through entity in accordance with applicable U.S. Treasury 
(awarding agency) policy. 

 
B. Gifts.  Officers, officials, employees, and agents of the municipality are prohibited 

from accepting or soliciting gifts, gratuities, favors, or anything of monetary value 
from contractors, suppliers, or parties to subcontracts.  Items of nominal value valued 
at less than $25 which fall into one of the following categories may be accepted: 

1. promotional items; 

2. honorariums for participation in meetings; or  

3. meals furnished at banquets.   

Any officer, official, employee or agent who knowingly accepts an item of nominal 
value allowed under this policy shall report the item to his or her immediate 
supervisor, or in the case of a board member, to the board. 

 
III. Violation 

 
Employees or appointed officials violating this policy will be subject to discipline 
consistent with applicable policy, charter, ordinance or law, which may include 
termination or removal from office.  Elected officials violating the policy may be subject 
to censure or other penalty consistent with any municipal charter. Violation of this policy 
by a contractor or subrecipient may result in breach or termination of the contract and 
will impact the contractor’s eligibility for future contract awards. 

 
 
 
Adopted by the Municipal Officers on ___________________________, 20______. 
 
_________________________________  _______________________ 
Signature      Date 
 
_________________________________  ________________________ 
Signature      Date 
 
_________________________________  ________________________ 
Signature      Date 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

94



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   April 11, 2022 
Re:   New federal and state holiday, “Juneteenth”  

  

If the Caribou City Council would consider amending the City Code and Ordinances Chapter 2 – 
Administration to add “Juneteenth” to the list of observed holidays, staff has drafted an ordinance 
change to amend Chapter 2 for introduction. A public hearing could be held at the May 9, 2022 
City Council Meeting. In 2022, June 19th in on a Sunday. The state will observe the holiday on 
Monday June 20. Police and fire unions have already incorporated the holiday into their contract. 
Additionally, Maine now observes “Indigenous Peoples Day” instead of “Columbus Day” so that 
should be updated as well if a change is made. 

Suggested motion:  

Please introduce ordinance 4, 2022 Series “An ordinance to amend the City Code and Ordinances 
Chapter 2 – Administration to add “Juneteenth” to the list of observed holidays and to change the 
name of the observed holiday ‘Columbus Day’ to ‘Indigenous Peoples Day’” and set a public 
hearing of May 9, 2022 

Here is an excerpt from Maine Municipal Association Town & City July 2021: 

Juneteenth: A New Holiday 
 
Maine Town & City - July, 2021 

Question: How does the new holiday Juneteenth affect local governments? 

Answer: Juneteenth (a blend of the words “June” and “nineteenth”) is the new paid federal and state holiday 

commemorating the emancipation of enslaved African-Americans. The date derives from June 19, 1865, when 

formerly enslaved residents of Galveston, Texas, learned belatedly of President Abraham Lincoln’s signing of the 

Emancipation Proclamation almost two and a half years earlier. President Biden on June 17, 2021, signed the new 

federal law making Juneteenth a paid holiday for federal employees. Maine Governor Mills did the same for state 

employees on June 10, 2021. The new state law (PL 2021, c. 140) declaring Juneteenth a paid holiday for state 

employees was not enacted as an emergency, however, so it will not be officially observed until June 19, 2022. 

Juneteenth joins a list of more familiar federal and state holidays on the calendar, from New Year’s Day to Christmas 

Day plus all the others in between. But no federal or state law mandates that municipalities recognize them or close 

their offices or pay their staff for any of these holidays. Although most federal and state holidays are recognized and 

paid locally as well, whether and to what extent municipalities do so is a local decision that should be incorporated 

one way or the other in their personnel policies and operating budgets. For more on this topic, see “Legal Holidays & 

Commemorations,” Maine Town & City, Legal Notes, February 2021. (By R.P.F.) 

95



 
ORDINANCE No. 4, 2022 Series 

 
City of Caribou 

County of Aroostook 
State of Maine 

 
“An ordinance to amend the City Code and Ordinances Chapter 2 – Administration to add 
‘Juneteenth’ to the list of observed holidays and to change the name of the observed holiday 
‘Columbus Day’ to ‘Indigenous Peoples Day’” 
 
Short Title: An Ordinance Amending Chapter 2 to add “Juneteenth” to the list of observed holidays 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Caribou is a Local Unit of Government under the State of Maine and is 
granted home rule authority under Maine Revised Statutes, Title 30-A, §3001; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Caribou has adopted as part of its ordinances and regulations Chapter 2 
- Administration; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Caribou has a list of observed holidays among the benefits provided to 
employees; and 
  

WHEREAS, the Caribou City Council has determined that “Juneteenth” should be added to the 
list of observed holidays; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Caribou City Council has determined that the Columbus Day holiday should be 
changed to reflect that Maine now observes “Indigenous Peoples Day”; and 
 
NOW THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Caribou, County of Aroostook, State of 
Maine, pursuant to the requirements of the City of Caribou Charter, Section 2.11, does ordain the 
following: 
 
Chapter 2 - Administration, Benefits Section, Holidays Subsection 
The following revision will be made: 
 
HOLIDAYS 
 
Eleven (11) Twelve (12) holidays are observed throughout the calendar year. They are: 
 

1. New Year’s Day 
2. Martin Luther King Jr. Day 
3. Presidents Day 
4. Patriot’s Day 
5. Memorial Day 

96



6. Juneteenth 
7. Independence Day 
8. Labor Day 
9. Columbus Day Indigenous Peoples Day 
10. Veterans Day 
11. Thanksgiving Day 
12. Christmas Day 

 
Section II.  Severability 
If any part of this ordinance or the application thereof to any person or circumstances shall, for 
any reason, be adjudged by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unconstitutional or invalid, such 
judgment shall not affect, impair of invalidate the remainder of this ordinance or the application 
thereof to other persons and circumstances, but shall be confined to its operation to the section, 
subdivision, sentence or part of the section and the persons and circumstances directly involved in 
the controversy in which such judgment shall have been rendered.  It is hereby declared to be the 
intent of the City Council that this section would have been adopted if such invalid section, 
provisions, subdivision, sentence or part of a section or application had not been included. 
 

Section III. Posting and Effective Date 

This ordinance, being introduced on April 11, 2022  and a public hearing being held on May 9, 
2022 was duly passed by the City Council of the City of Caribou, Maine, this ___ day of _____, 
2022. This ordinance shall become effective 30 days after adoption by the Council.  

 
 
______________________________   ______________________________ 
Jody Smith, Mayor     Courtney Boma, Deputy Mayor  
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Joan Theriault, Councilor    R. Mark Goughan, Councilor 
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Doug Morrell, Councilor    Lou Willey, Councilor 
 
______________________________   
John Morrill, Councilor  
 
 
 
 
        Attest:_____________________________ 

 Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 
 

97



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   April 11, 2022 
Re:   Quote on updating the Downtown TIF District from NMDC 

  

In January, the Caribou City Council directed staff to make changes to the Downtown Tax 
Increment Financing District and to obtain quotes for the work. 

Staff reached out to NMDC and Eaton-Peabody and has obtained a quote from NMDC 

Suggested action: 

This can be considered a “first read”. 

 

 

98



NORTHERN MAINE 
DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION 
 
PROPOSAL FOR SERVICES 
 
Overview 
 
Northern Maine Development Commission (NMDC) is pleased to submit this proposal for services 
to support the City of Caribou in achieving its goal for downtown revitalization.  NMDC’s method 
for developing and reviewing of applications is through a team approach bringing together the 
strengths of the NMDC team to produce a quality application for approval.  We establish a single 
point of contact (POC) for the client to work with and there is always a team member available to 
assist the client if the POC is unavailable.  We work closely with state agencies on your behalf and 
have collectively over 100 years of experience in writing applications and administering grants in 
Aroostook County and statewide. 
 
The Objective 
 
The purpose of this Proposal for Services is to assist the City of Caribou with an amendment to the 
City’s Downtown Tax Increment Financing District.   
 
The Opportunity 
 
The City of Caribou desires to implement comprehensive, integrated, and innovative solutions to 
revitalize their downtown district.  The revitalization project will be part of a strategy that targets 
downtown services and the business district that will lead to future public and private investment. 
 
Our Proposal 
 
NMDC proposes to provide assistance to the City of Caribou in amending its TIF District as follows: 
 

1. Review of original Municipal Tax Increment Financing (MTIF) application and all 
amendments thereto. 

2. Development of an amended MTIF application to remove certain parcels identified by the 
City of Caribou and incorporate identified parcels into the new MTIF District boundaries in 
accordance with the attached MTIF application checklist. 

3. Preparation of any additional documents required by Manie Department of Economic and 
Community Development (DECD) for MTIF application submission and approval. 

4. Communications and follow-up with DECD before and after submission of the MTIF 
application. 

99



5. Out-of-pocket expenses will be  billed separately from this price proposal such as mileage, 
copying, postage, etc. 

6. This Proposal for Services does not cover any required legal fees. 
7. The MTIF amended application will be completed on or before August 1, 2022. 

 
Since Caribou is a NMDC member the proposed price of $5,000 has been reduced by 20% to reflect 
the net price of $4,000.  
 
The City of Caribou will be responsible for the following: 
 

1. Provide local assessing records and tax maps 
2. Public advertising of required meetings, recording of minutes and recording of votes. 
3. Other reports and/or materials as necessary for completion of the MTIF application. 

 
Conclusion 
 
We look forward to working with the City of Caribou in supporting your efforts to revitalize the 
downtown.  We are confident that we can meet the challenges ahead and stand ready to partner 
with you in delivering an effective project application. 
 
If this Proposal for Services is accepted a Contract for Services will be executed by both parties. 
 
If you have questions on this proposal, feel free to contact me at your convenience by e-mail at 
rclark@nmdc.org or by phone at 493-5762.  Thank you for your consideration. 
 

    March 25, 2022 
Robert P. Clark        Date 
Executive Director 
 
 
Acceptance of Proposal for Services: 
 
 
______________________________    _______________ 
Penny  Thompson                   Date 
City Manager 
 
  
 
 
 

100

mailto:rclark@nmdc.org


 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   April 11, 2022 
Re:   Discussion of snow removal from fire hydrants 

  

Fire hydrants are a vital component of fire operations and constant maintenance is required. The 
Caribou City Code and Ordinances does not dictate who will keep the fire hydrants cleared of 
snow after winter storms. Historically, the informal practice has been that the Public Works 
would unbury the fire hydrants as time allows.  

During the’21 – ’22 winter season, the Public Works department worked short-handed and was 
burdened with many weather events which prevented them from keeping the hydrants shoveled 
at all times. 

It has been suggested that, before the ’22 – ’23 winter season, a discussion about a more formal 
solution take place. 

 

Suggested action: 

This can be considered a “first read” for discussion purposes. 

 

 

101



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   April 11, 2022 
Re:   Update on Solar Discounts 

  

The City of Caribou could partner with a local developer to receive discounts on the City of 
Caribou monthly Versant Power invoices. This would be one way to reduce costs without cutting 
services to our citizens. 

Shawn Pelletier, representing Caribou Solar Power, LLC and Nordic Sun Energy, LLC presented  
program information to the City Council at the last City Council meeting. The presentation was 
on the Net Energy Billing Tariff Rate Program that is available to non-residential customers only.  

The City of Caribou has signed a release so that Versant can assist with determining a share of a 
solar project so that savings can be realized starting in November 2022. No firm numbers have 
been given to Nordic Sun Energy, LLC to give to the Caribou City Council. However, the positions 
in the projects under construction are filling up fast and the developer would like to know if the 
Caribou City Council wishes to move forward with participation. 

 

Suggested Action: 

Please advise staff if the Caribou City Council would like to proceed. 

 

 

 

 

 

102



 
                                                          CFAD Monthly Report   
                                                                   March  2022                                       
          Fire Calls 20_Ambulance Calls 223_Canceled Calls 3_ = Total Calls - 246                                     
                                                                    
See Attached Breakdowns:        
- Alarms for Fires (33)-4                          - ALS Calls - 109 
- Alarms for Rescues (66) -      - BLS Calls - 114  
- Silent Alarms  - 16                - Amb. Calls Canceled- 2  
- Total Hours Pumped -11.75               - Target Calls (Drug Behavioral)- 9  
- Gallons of Water Used – 152,000                            - PIFT Transfers- 1 
- Amt. of Hose used -1,700’                                     - Long Distance Transfers -8 
- Ladders Used (in Feet):113’                                     - Calls Turned Over -13 
- (75’Aerial)_’                                                             - Total Out of Town Calls- 70 
- Thermal Imaging Camera Used - 8                          - No Transports- 42 
- Gas Meter Used- 2                           -  Est. Fire Loss, Caribou -$71,500     
- Rescue Sled & Snowmobile-1   - Est. Fire Loss, out of City-$190,000 
-Rescue Boat -                                                             -Total Est. Fire Loss -$261,500       
-Jaws Used -         
                                                     - Total Maintenance Hours -24 
-Miles Traveled by All Units – 5,583               -Total Training Hours – 194.10 
-Color Guard Trng./Ceremonies                                                             .                             
                
MUTUAL AID TO:     MUTUAL AID FROM: 
Presque Isle Fire Dept. -  F1  A-   Presque Isle Fire Dept.-   2          
Fort Fairfield Fire Dept -.F  A -   Fort Fairfield Fire Dept - 1        
Limestone Fire Dept..      Limestone Fire Dept.-      2            
Washburn Fire Dept.-                                      Washburn Fire Dept.-      1         
Stockholm Fire Dept. .    Stockholm Fire Dept.-      1 
North Lakes Fire Dept.    North Lakes Fire Dept.-   1 
Crown Ambulance     Van Buren Fire Dept -      1 
Van Buren Ambulance -                                     Crown Ambulance -                            
Life Flight - 6      
 
Out of City Fire and/or Ambulance Responses/and No Transports (N/T) 
Location           # of Amb. Resp./N/T’s    # Of Fire Resp. Man Hrs.  
Woodland          14                                       1 
Connor          6                                         1 
New Sweden            11                                       1                                                                             .                                                           
Stockholm           4             
Limestone                 25                                
Caswell                     2   
Fort Fairfield                                                         
Presque Isle           1                                         1                                                                                                          
Van Buren                                                             
Bangor                                                            
Perham            
Mad. Lake Twp.       1                                                                                                                                                           
Houlton                     2                                                    
                     
                                                                      _________________________ 
                                                                       Scott Susi, CFAD Chief  103



                                                                   Fire Breakdowns 

 
 
 
 

Situation Found   # Of Incidents Fire 
Casualties 

Est. Property 
Damage 

1. Private Dwellings (111) 
Mobile Homes (121)                                   

2     

2. Apartments (3 or 
more) (111) 
 

1     

3. Hotels & Motels 
(111) 
    

     

4. Dormitories & 
Boarding Homes 
    (111) 

     

5. Public Assembly 
(Church,  
    Restaurant) (111) 

     

6. Schools (111) 
 

     

7. Institutions 
(Hospitals, Jails, 
    Nursing Homes) 
(111) 

     

8. Stores, Offices (111) 
 

     

9. Industry, Utility, 
Defense (111) 
 

     

10. Storage (111) 
 

1     

11. Vacant Buildings or 
being Built 
       (111) 

     

12. Fires outside 
structure w/value 
      (crops, timber, etc.)  
(171) 

     

13. Fires Highway 
Vehicles (131) 
 

     

14. Other Vehicles 
(planes, trains, Ski Doo 
      etc.) (132)   

        

15. Fires in brush, grass 
w/no value 
      (140) 

     

104



 
Other Incidents 
16. Haz-Mat (400)  
17. False Calls (740) 2 
18. Mutual Aid Calls (571)                     1 
19. Aid to Ambulance (10-55's) (322)    4 
20. Aid to Police (551)                             
21. Investigation (Smoke, CO, or Alarm)      (smoke ) 6 (CO) 1 (Alarm )  

                    
22. Service Calls (500)                             2 
23. Ambulance Calls (300)                    223 
Canceled Calls- 3 
Fire/Rescue- 20     
Total Calls for the Month_246 

105



Mar-22

WAITING LIST STATISTICS

Jan Feb Mar AprilMayJuneJulyAugSepOctNovDec YTD

Applicants in Jurisdiction 44 37 44 125

VAWA Preference 2 0 5 7

Veteran's Preference 0 0 0 0

Natural Disaster 0 0 0 0

 Living in Caribou 29 24 31 84

 Mainstream 5 7 7 19

HOUSING CHOICE VOUCHER PROGRAM

Jan Feb Mar AprilMayJuneJulyAugSepOctNovDec YTD

HUD Allocated Vouchers 193 193 193 579

Total Vouchers Leased 183 181 176 540

Port Out Vouchers 0 1 1 2

Homeownership Vouchers 1 1 1 3

All Other Housing Choice Vouchers 182 179 174 535

YTD Openings 11 13 18 42

Vouchers on Street 6 6 2 14

Total HAP Expense 85,350$         86,716$       84,502$       256,568$        

All Other Voucher 77,820$         77,175$       74,499$       229,494$        

Port Out Payments -$                   1,436$         1,436$         2,872$            

Homeownership HAP 233$              233$            233$            699$               

FSS Escrow, Particiants Account 7,297$           7,872$         8,334$         23,503$          

Ave. Per Unit Cost 466$              479$            480$            475$               

Lease Up Rates Jan Feb Mar AprilMayJuneJulyAugSepOctNovDec YTD

HUD Allocated -vs- Leased 95% 94% 91% 93%

HUD Funded -vs- HAP Expense 100% 86% 83% 90%

MAINSTREAM VOUCHERS

Jan Feb Mar AprilMayJuneJulyAugSepOctNovDec YTD

Allocated Vouchers 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 # 480

Total Vouchers Leased 22 24 24 70

Total HAP Expense 12,353$         10,945$       11,572$       34,870$          

YTD Openings 18 16 16 50

Vouchers on Street 11 10 4 25

Appllicants Pulled from Waiting List 0 30 0 30

PORT IN / FOSTER YOUTH TO INDEPENDENCE

Jan Feb Mar AprilMayJuneJulyAugSepOctNovDec YTD

Vouchers Leased 0 0 0 0

FYI HAP -$                   -$                 -$                 -$                    

LANDLORD PARTICIPATION INCENTIVE PROGRAM

CARIBOU HOUSING AUTHORITY

 - HOUSING CHOICE VOUCHER - 

 - MAINSTREAM PROGRAM - 

 - FOSTER YOUTH PROGRAM - 

- EMERGENCY HOUSING VOUCHER PROGRAM- 

 FAMILY SELF-SUFFICIENCY PROGRAM

106



EMERGENCY HOUSING VOUCHERS 

Jan Feb Mar AprilMayJuneJulyAugSepOctNovDec YTD

Allocated Vouchers 15 15 15 45

Total Vouchers Leased 8 8 8 24

Total HAP Expense 9,751$               11,548$           11,755$           33,054$              

YTD Openings 7 5 5 17

Vouchers on Street 9 5 2 16

HOUSING QUALITY STANDARDS INSPECTIONS

Jan Feb Mar AprilMayJuneJulyAugSepOctNovDec YTD

Initial Inspection 5 4 4 13

Annual Inspection 0 0 0 0

Tenant/Landlord Requested 0 0 0 0

No Show 0 0 0 0

Reinpsection(s) 0 0 0 0

0

Other, Public Housing Authority Inspections 0 0 0 0

Toal Inspections 5 4 4 13

SPECIALITY PROGRAM - FAMILY SELF-SUFFICIENCY

Jan Feb Mar AprilMayJuneJulyAugSepOctNovDec YTD

Number of Participants 7,297$           7,872$         8,334$         23,503$          

Number Earning Escrow 62 59 59 180

FSS Escrow, Particiants Account 26 26 28 80

FSS Famlies, Disbursement 1 1 3 5

FSS Disbursement Amount 238.00$         126.00$       3,764.31$    4,128$            

FSS Graduate, Families 2 0 0 2

FSS Graudate, Escrow 4,950$           -$                 -$                 4,950$            

FSS Forfeiture, Families 0 1 0 1$                   

FSS Forfeiture, Escrow -$                   2,056$         -$                 2,056$            

LANDLORD INCENTIVE PROGRAM

Jan Feb Mar AprilMayJuneJulyAugSepOctNovDec YTD

Signing Bonus 2,500$           3,250$         2,500$         8,250$            

Housing Choice Voucher 1 1 2 4$                   

750$              750$            1,500$         3,000$            

Mainstream 1 2 0 1

750$              1,500$         -$                 750$               

Emergency Housing Voucher 1 1 1 0

1,000$           1,000$         1,000$         751$               

Security Deposit 2,149$           2,590$         1,280$         6,019$            

Housing Choice Voucher 1 2 2 5

700.00$         1,380.00$    1,280.00$    3,360.00$       

Mainstream 1 1 0 2

693.00$         1,210.00$    -$             1,903.00$       

Emergency Housing Voucher 1 0 0 1

756$              -$                 -$                 756$               107



Repair Grants 1,500$           -$                 -$                 1,500$            

Housing Choice Voucher 1 0 0 1

1,500$           -$                 -$                 1,500$            

Mainstream 0 0 0 0

-$                   -$                 -$                 -$                    

Damage Reimbursements -$                   -$                 -$                 

Housing Choice Voucher 0 0 0 0

$ -$                 -$                 $

Mainstream 0 0 0 0

$ -$                 -$                 $

Grand Total of Incentives 6,149$           5,840$         3,780$         15,769$          

118,791$       115,175$     115,373$     349,339$        GRAND TOTAL OF ASSISTANCE INTO LOCAL 

108



Caribou Public Library 
DIRECTOR’S REPORT 

 
 
To:   Mayor and City Councilors  
  Penny Thompson, City Manager 
From: Peter Baldwin, Library Director 
February 2022 Report 
  This month, the Library has spent a lot of time thinking about the current state of affairs. With 
spring looming on the horizon, the Library has been revisiting some of its programs and begun to adapt 
them to the changing times. This means bringing about new programs, as well as a slow return to in-
person programming.  

 Our “ Lego Day” program is one of the programs that we have spent this month on. We have 
been arranging materials and getting the word out about its happening in April. We have been getting 
our patrons excited, especially our younger ones, to come try their hand at lego creation. This is a 
program that we had pre-COVID, so some of the parents are familiar with it. We expect a sizeable 
turnout to these “Lego Days” next month. 

 Miss Erin has also been adjusting the Children’s Story Time to reflect in-person programming 
as well. Beginning in April, we will be offering our Preschool Story Time weekly and in-person. We 
will still be recording these and putting them online as we have had such luck reaching a wider 
audience that way.  

 This month, we held our Chickadee Awards for Picture Books. The Chickadee Awards are 
Children’s Choice Awards for picture books. We set up a booth from March 21st- 26th so children could 
come and cast their vote for “Best Picture Book”. All month long, the Picture Books themselves were 
read and recorded by Miss Erin, so if a kid did not have a chance to check it out themselves, they could 
still take part in all the stories. Their votes were cast, and we sent down the nominations in the last 
week of March. 

 The IditaREAD program took place all this month as well, with over 30 Reading Logs given 
out. As a part of this program we invited Tracy Babin, a Sled Dog Musher, to visit the library and teach 
kids about Sled Dog Racing. We had 30 people in attendance for this event, and took pictures of 
everyone. After the event, we created personalized photo books of the event for each family that 
included not only pictures of the event, but hand-picked photos that illustrate their specific children 
participating.  

 The Maine State Library’s Annual Report has been completed and submittted, before the April 
1st deadline.  109



 The Library had 1 staff member out with COVID this month. We received a distressing call 
after their return from a patron about our Mask Mandate interferring with their ability to enjoy the 
Library. The Director took this under advisement and decided to host a Survey to gague community 
opinion about our requirement of Masks. The votes were tallied, and “Continueing the Mask 
Requirement” came in first at 22-17. The Library has decided to continue its mandate while COVID 
Transmissions are High for Aroostook County. The County officially dropped out of High 
Transmission on Monday, March 25th. If transmissions stay low for at least a week continuously, mask 
will become optional on April 5th. If the County returns to High transmission for at least a week 
continuously, we will return to a mask requirement.  

 The Library Director also attended a meeting with Bendable Maine to discuss the development 
of community collections. As a Hub Library, we have a say in suggested content that will be created 
for Bendable. The meeting was engaging and we were able to recommend collections like “Aging with 
Technology”, “Homesteading”, “Health Resources”, “Job Training”, “Career Development”, and 
“Small Business Resources and How-to’s”. We feel this will be welcome by our patrons and 
community, and are already of need.  

That’s all for us at the Library, tune in next month for more Library fun! 

Peter Baldwin 
 

 

110



 
 

CIRCULATION STATISTICAL COMPARISON 

MATERIAL TYPE 
JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEPT OCT NOV DEC 
2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 

Adult books 729 554 612                   

Juvenile books 584 455 662                   

Teen/YA books 40 51 55                   

DVDs 122 98 129                   

eBooks/Audiobooks 25 158 177                   

Magazines 36 15 24                   

Interlibrary loans 26 33 29                   

Puzzles 17 1 9                   

STEAM 26 35 17                   

Renewals 434 309 479                   

TOTAL NUMBERS 2,039 1,709 2,193 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

111



 
 

**As of 2020 the Maine State Library is now requiring that public libraries track renewals as part of their statistics. STEAM Kits made available in 
November 2021 ** 

 

MAR APR MAY JUNE JUL AUG SEPT OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR

2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2022 2022 2022

Adult books 1,123 432 462 582 553 571 556 589 610 529 729 554 612

Juvenile books 1,208 458 421 738 640 661 669 611 586 432 584 455 662

Teen/YA books 154 62 45 99 85 125 77 58 75 43 40 51 55

DVDs 507 186 175 170 197 248 219 174 210 164 122 98 129

eBooks/Audiobooks 404 355 261 205 172 165 40 27 127 139 25 158 177

Magazines 168 36 15 30 27 38 59 57 96 65 36 15 24

Interlibrary loans 101 51 28 34 47 77 42 33 28 36 26 33 29

Puzzles 12 14 10 0 1 0 1 3 14 8 17 1 9

STEAM ** See 
Note

** See 
Note

** See 
Note

** See 
Note

** See 
Note

** See 
Note

** See 
Note

** See 
Note

4 15 26 35 17

Renewals 757 676 530 593 555 592 578 434 496 407 434 309 479

TOTAL NUMBERS 4,434 2,270 1,947 2,451 2,277 2,477 2,241 1,986 2,246 1,838 2,039 1,709 2,193

MATERIAL TYPE

CIRCULATION STATISTICAL COMPARISON

Year JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEPT OCT NOV DEC TOTAL
2017 1,429 1,647 2,165 1,671 1,782 2,053 2,086 2,225 1,995 2,335 2,284 2,094 23,766
2018 1,789 1,755 2,396 2,758 2,192 2,501 2,629 3,166 2,727 2,894 2,587 2,104 29,498
2019 2,924 2,026 2,728 2,663 2,116 1,979 2,519 2,297 2,129 2,099 1,603 1,770 26,853
2020 2,404 2,415 1,710 289 281 1,113 2,040 3,327 2,990 3,278 3,063 3,525 26,435
2021 3,850 3,710 4,434 2,270 1,947 2,451 2,277 2,477 2,367 2,116 2,246 1,838 31,983
2022 2,039 1,709 2,193 5,941

YEAR-TO-DATE MONTHLY CIRCULATION COMPARISON

112



Monthly Permit Report

March 2022

CURRENT YEAR PRIOR YEAR PRIOR YEAR

MONTH TO DATE MONTH TO DATE

BUILDING PERMITS 0 1 0 8

HOMES 0 0 0 0

MOBILE HOMES 0 0 0 1

MULTI-FAMILY 0 0 0 0

COMMERCIAL 0 1 0 5

EXEMPT 0 0 0 1

PLUMBING PERMITS

INTERNAL 0 2 0 5

EXTERNAL 0 0 0 0

DEMO PERMITS 0 0 2 2

SIGN PERMITS 0 1 1 2

Year-to-Date is January 2022 to March 2022

113


